
 

 

Manor of Winslade 

 

Overview 

 

The overlordship of the manor of Winslade was held by the de Port family, followed by their 

descendants the St John and then Paulet families. The manor was held by the Tichborne family 

from 1349 until 1562, when it was sold by Francis Tichborne to his overlord William Paulet, 

Marquis of Winchester. It was subsequently held by the Paulet family from the 16th century to 

the first half of the 20th century, before being acquired by Lord Camrose in 1935.  

 

Tichborne Family 

 

The Domesday survey states that by 1086 Winslade was held of Hugh de Port by Walter.1 In 

1275, the manor was recorded as being held of John de St. John for a half a knight’s fee by 

Alan de Hagheman.2 Winslade was next recorded as being held by John de Knolle in 1316, 

with the reversion after his death subsequently granted to John de Tichborne in 1331, with the 

later presenting a rector, Alexander de Heymundescote, to the vacant church of Winslade as 

lord of the manor in the same year.3 Nicholas de Hagheman was recorded as lord of the manor 

during the episcopacy of Adam Orleton (1333-45) when he presented a rector, but Roger de 

Tichborne, son of John de Tichborne, was subsequently described as being the owner in 1349.4 

Ownership of the manor continued with the Tichborne family until 1562 when it was sold by 

Francis Tichborne to his overlord William Paulet, Marquis of Winchester.5 

 

Paulet Family 

William Paulet died in 1572, ten years after his purchase of the manor of Winslade. He had 

inherited substantial lands in N.E. Hampshire and his position as a prominent member of royal 

government enabled him to accumulate both former monastic land and other lay estates. The 

land acquired during his lifetime left the Paulet family as the most prominent landowners in 
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the county.6 His grandson William Paulet 3rd Marquess of Winchester, a noted catholic, 

incurred great debts as a result of his legal battles and the visits of Elizabeth I to Basing House. 

In order to economise, he moved into the lodge of Hackwood Park on the Winslade estate and 

demolished part of Basing House.7 After Basing House was destroyed during the First English 

Civil War, the Paulets returned to Hackwood.8 The estate continued to pass down the family 

line, until the death of Charles Paulet the 3rd Duke of Bolton in 1754. Charles had married Lady 

Anne Vaughan in 1713 and the union was widely known to have been deeply unhappy. In The 

State Dunces Inscribed. To Mr Pope. Part II reference is made to this, as well as a failed ‘plot’ 

by Bolton  to divorce his wife, presumably in order to marry his mistress, Lavinia Fenton. In 

the copy held at Winchester College, a helpful annotation tells us that he ‘was s[ai]d to put a 

footman to bed his wife in order to obtain a divorce’.9 Bolton was never able to obtain the 

divorce and was only able to marry Lavinia on Anne’s death in 1751. As a result, all three of 

his children were illegitimate and the estates passed to his brother, Harry, after he died in 

1754.10  

In 1794, the death of Harry Paulet the 6th Duke without any immediate male heirs, led 

to Winslade and Hackwood House passing to Thomas Orde, the husband of Jean Mary Browne 

Powlett, the natural daughter of Charles Paulet the 5th Duke. Soon afterwards, on 7 January 

1795, Thomas adopted the surname Paulet in addition to his own. Later, in 1797, Thomas was 

created Baron Bolton of Bolton Castle and on his death, in 1807, he was succeeded by his 

eldest son, William.11 The tithe apportionment of 1839 records that almost all the land in the 

parish belonged to William 2nd Baron Bolton, with less than half of the total (260 a.) held in 

hand.12 William died in 1850, with his estates and title passing to his nephew, William Henry, 
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as 3rd Baron Bolton. In 1935, the manor and estate was purchased by the newspaper proprietor 

William Berry, Lord Camrose, the owner of the Sunday Times and Daily Telegraph.13 He was 

succeeded by his eldest son, John, the second viscount Camrose, with the estate subsequently 

acquired by a company, Lockwood 2002 Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands), 

after the death of his widow in 1997.14 

 

Lesser Estates in Winslade 

 

In 1346, Nicholas de Hagheman was said to have held one hide of land that formerly belonged 

to John de Knolle, but no further information survives for lesser landholders in Winslade prior 

to the 17th century.15 In 1662, Matthew Benjamin, husbandman, leased a cottage and land 

comprising 1 a. for a period of 99 years from Charles Paulet, 6th Marquess of Bolton.16 He 

subsequently leased a further 12 a. of land called ‘Churchfields’ from the duke for 99 years in 

1670. This lease was renewed upon the death of the former in 1695, which was transferred to 

his daughter Dorothy, wife of Nicholas Durman. Part of Churchfields had since been 

incorporated into Hackwood Park so two acres of land called Hydes were substituted.17 This 

lease was subsequently renewed by their son, John, in 1733, but had ceased to exist by the time 

of the tithe award in 1839.18   

In 1695, an estate called ‘Harmewoods’ or ‘Harmonds’ comprising 60 a. was purchased 

by Charles Paulet, now 1st Duke of Bolton, from Daniel Hoare, described as a yeoman of South 

Warnborough.19 In the same year, Ralph Heath, keeper of Hackwood Park, leased land called 

‘Bignel’ for the yearly rent of 10s.20 After his death, two years later, the lease was transferred 

to Samuel Prince the Elder, with the estate said to have comprised 4 a. called ‘Home Close’, 2 

½ a. called ‘Hydes’, 3 a. called ‘Three Acres, an unnamed 7 a. close, 4 a. called ‘Anchor lands’, 

and 60 a. called ‘Little Piddle’. Samuel Prince the Younger subsequently became the lessee on 
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the death of his father, in 1735, with the lease renewed in 1756 for a term of 13 years with the 

lands now described as Winslade Down and Drove Piddle.21 The tithe apportionment for the 

parish also shows that an estate comprising 63 a. was being leased by the Reverend John Orde 

in 1839.22 

 

Manor of Kempshott 

 

Overview 

 

The overlordship of the manor of Kempshott was held by the de Port family, followed by their 

descendants the St John and then Paulet families. The manor itself was held by the Tichborne 

family from 1316 until 1578 when it was sold to  Henry Pinck. It was subquently held by the 

Pinck family until 1770 when it passed by inheritance to Dorothy and John Lee. The manor 

then changed hands in the late 18th century, being acquired by Philip Dehany in 1773, James 

Morley in 1787, and John Crosse Cooke in 1788. It was then purchased by Edward Walter 

Blunt in 1832, before being acquired by Sir Nelson Rycroft in 1866. The estate was sold off by 

the Rycroft family in the early 20th century and Kempshott House itself was demolished in 

1972. 

 

Tichborne Descent 

 

The Domesday survey states that by 1086 Kempshott was held of Hugh de Port by Walter.23 

In 1256, the manor was recorded as being held of Reginald Fitz Peter for half a knight’s fee by 

Hugh de Sifrewast.24 Kempshott remained in the possession of the Sifrewast family until the 

early 14th century, when it was inherited by Margaret, daughter and heir of Roger de Sifrewast. 

John Tichborne was then able to acquire the manor as part of his marriage settlement with 

Margaret and was recorded as being lord of the manor in 1316.25 Kempshott remained in the 
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possession of the Tichborne family until 1578, when it was sold by Benjamin Tichborne to 

Henry Pinck.26  

 

Pinck Descent 

 

Upon the latter’s death, in 1611, the manor passed to his son, Robert Pinck, a senior proctor of 

New College Oxford. Yet Robert’s successful university career meant that he continued to 

reside at Oxford after this date, where he was elected as warden of New College in 1617. His 

support for the king during the early stages of the First English Civil War, which included 

mustering and drilling the scholars of the college, led to his imprisonment by the 

parliamentarians from 12 September 1642 to 5 January 1643.27 Robert died on 2 November 

1647, and by a will dated 22 May of the same year, left Kempshott to his nephew Henry 

Pinck.28 Henry was succeeded by his son, Thomas Pinck (d.1708), who served as mayor of 

Winchester from 1689-90. The estate then passed to the latter’s son, the Reverend Henry Pinck, 

until his death in 1723, when he was then succeeded in turn by his son, Henry Pinck.29 Henry 

died in 1770 and in his will left the estate to his niece Dorothy, wife of John Lee of Woolley 

Firs.30 The manor was subsequently sold to Philip Dehany of Farleigh Wallop, esquire, in 1773, 

who rebuilt the manor house in brick.31Philip Dehany was the son of David Dehany, a Bristol 

merchant, who owned sugar estates in Jamaica and Barbados. Philip also possessed property 

in Kent, London and Hampshire, and his interests in this particular area included Farleigh 

Wallop, Kempshott and his friendship with the Duke of Bolton at Basing.32  

 

Subsequent ownership 
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James Morley, an East India Company merchant, purchased the estate in 1787 but sold it in the 

following year to John Crosse Cooke, esquire.33 From 1789 to 1795 the manor was leased by 

John  Crooke to George Augustus Frederick, the Prince of Wales. He frequently visited the 

estate for hunting trips and after his marriage to Princess Caroline of Brunswick-Wolfenbüttel 

in 1795, he spent his honeymoon at the property.34 The estate was subsequently leased by Guy 

Carleton, 1st Baron Dorchester, from 1796 to 1803.35 Carleton’s career had been in Canada as 

a general and twice governor of Quebec. He retired to England in 1796 to the life of a country 

squire. He had already bought the nearby manor of Nately  Scures.36 Edward Blunt, esquire, 

purchased the manor from John Crosse Cooke’s widow, Elizabeth, in 1832, with the estate later 

acquired by Sir Nelson Rycroft in 1866.37 He was succeeded by his son Sir Richard Nelson 

Rycroft in 1894, who had leased the estate to Henry Gourlay by 1911.38 After the latter’s death, 

in 1915, the manor house remained unoccupied for some time before being used by the 

Ministry of War during the Second World War.39 The estate, excluding Kempshott House, was 

purchased by Basingstoke Golf Club in 1927 from the Rycroft Estate, with the house itself 

being demolished in 1972.40  
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